
 

 

1 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE ANNUITY AND PENSION BOARD 

EMPLOYES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF MILWAUKEE 

789 N. WATER ST. (Employes’ Retirement System) 

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 22, 2022 – 9:00 A.M. 

 

Special Notice: Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the meeting will be held remotely via video 

conference. Instructions on how to observe the meeting will be available on ERS’s website 

(www.cmers.com) prior to the meeting. 

 

Please note and observe the following remote attendance etiquette to ensure a smooth and 

productive meeting:  

• In order to cut down on background noise, participants in the meeting should put their phones on 

mute when they are not participating.  

• At the start of the meeting, the Chairman will announce the names of the members of the Board 

present on the call, as well as anyone else who will be participating.  

• Please request to be recognized by the Chairman if you would like to speak.  

• Those participating on the call should identify themselves whenever they speak, and should ensure 

that the other participants on the call can hear them clearly. 

 

REGULAR MEETING  

I. Appointment of Committees for 2022. 

 A. Administration and Operations Committee. 

 B.  Investment Committee. 

 C. Legislative Committee. 

 D. Litigation Committee. 

II. Approval of Minutes. 

 

A. Annual Meeting Held January 26, 2021. 

B. Minutes of the Special Board Meeting Held February 10, 2022. 

 

III. Chief Investment Officer Report. 

 

IV. Investment Committee Report. 

 

Please be advised that the Annuity and Pension Board may vote to convene in closed session on the 

following item (A.), as provided in Section 19.85(1)(e), Wisconsin State Statutes, to deliberate or 

negotiate the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other specified 

public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session. The Board may 

then vote to reconvene in open session following the closed session. 

 

A. Selection of Hedge Fund of Funds Manager. 

 

V. New Business. 

 

Please be advised that the Annuity and Pension Board may vote to convene in closed session on the 

following item (A.), as provided in Section 19.85(1)(g), Wisconsin State Statutes, to confer with legal 

counsel concerning strategy to be adopted by the body with respect to litigation in which it is or is likely 

to become involved. The Board may then vote to reconvene in open session following the closed session.  



 

 

2 

A. Update and Consideration of Strategy, Tactics and Potential Resolution Regarding the 

Allianz Litigation. 

B. Retirements, Death Claims, and Refunds (January). 

C. Conference Requests – February 2022 Board Meeting. 

 

Please be advised that the Annuity and Pension Board may vote to convene in closed session on the 

following item (D.), as provided in Section 19.85 (1)(c), for considering employment, promotion, 

compensation or performance evaluation data of any public employe over which the governmental body 

has jurisdiction or exercises responsibility. The Board may then vote to reconvene in open session 

following the closed session. 

 

D. ERS Executive Staff Compensation. 

 

VI. Medical Reports. 

 

A. All Duty & Ordinary Disability Applications & Re-examinations (February). 

 

VII. Unfinished Business. 

 

A. Pending Legal Opinions and Service Requests Report. 

B. Pending Legislation Report. 

C. Executive Director’s Report – Inventory of ERS Projects. 

 

VIII. Informational.  

 

Please be advised that the Annuity and Pension Board may vote to convene in closed session on the 

following item (A.), as provided in Section 19.85(1)(g), Wisconsin State Statutes, to confer with legal 

counsel concerning strategy to be adopted by the body with respect to litigation in which it is or is likely 

to become involved. The Board may then vote to reconvene in open session following the closed session. 

 

A. Pending Litigation Report.  

 B. Conferences. 

C. Class Action Income 2022 YTD. 

D. Adjusted Quarterly Cost Basis of Equity. 

E. Minutes of the Investment Committee Meeting Held February 10, 2022. 

F. Report on Bills. 

G. Deployment of Assets. 

H. Securities Lending Revenue and Budget Report. 

I. Preliminary Performance Report and Asset Allocation. 

 

 

MEETING REMINDERS 

ADMINISTRATION & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING  

THURSDAY, MARCH 17, 2022 – 9:00 A.M. 

789 N. WATER ST. 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE ANNUITY AND PENSION BOARD  

TUESDAY, MARCH 29, 2022 – 9:00 A.M. 

789 N. WATER ST. 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I. 

 

APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES FOR 2022 

 

A. Administration and Operations Committee. 

B.  Investment Committee. 

C. Legislative Committee. 

D. Litigation Committee. 



2022 Appointment of Committees and Committee Chairs 

 

Chairman Bell appointed the following members to serve on the committees listed below. 

 

Administration and Operations Committee (Created 6/24/96) (Also Ad hoc Audit Committee) 

   Aycha Sawa, Chair  

   Molly King 

   Tom Klusman    

    

 

Investment Committee 

Tom Klusman, Chair 

Matthew Bell 

   James Campbell 

   Deborah Ford 

   Molly King 

   Rudy Konrad 

   Nik Kovac 

   Aycha Sawa   

 

 

Member, Intergovernmental Relations and Legislative Committee (Created 6/24/96) 

   

   Deborah Ford, Chair  

James Campbell 

Nik Kovac    

 

 

Litigation Committee (Created 9/23/96) 

 

   To be appointed when necessary. 





 

               EMPLOYES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF MILWAUKEE 

ANNUITY AND PENSION BOARD 

 

Minutes of the Annual Meeting 

held January 26, 2022 via teleconference during COVID-19 

  

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m. 

 

Board Members Present:   Matthew Bell, Chair  

     James Campbell 

     Deborah Ford 

Molly King 

     Tom Klusman  

Rudolph Konrad 

Nik Kovac 

Aycha Sawa 

 

Retirement System Staff Present: Jerry Allen, Executive Director 

Melody Johnson, Deputy Director 

     Daniel Gopalan, Chief Financial Officer 

     David Silber, Chief Investment Officer 

     Erich Sauer, Deputy Chief Investment Officer 

Gust Petropoulos, Deputy Director - Disability 

Mary Turk, Business Operations Analyst 

Jan Wills, Board Stenographer     

 

Others Present: Hannah Ross, Avi Josefson, BLB&G; Patrick McClain, City Attorney’s Office; Terry 

Siddiqui, DS Consulting, Inc., seven members of the public called in to the meeting. 

Annual Meeting. 

Mr. Konrad noted the passing last week of former Annuity and Pension Board member Mark Nicolini 

who was also the City of Milwaukee Budget Director for many years as well as budget director for 

other public bodies. He noted Mr. Nicolini served on the Annuity and Pension Board from 2013-2018. 

Mr. Konrad said he did an outstanding job for the Board and acknowledged his service.  

Officers for 2022. 

 Election of Chair. Mr. Konrad asked for nominations for Chair. It was moved by Mr. 

Campbell and seconded by Ms. King to nominate Mr. Bell for Chair. Mr. Konrad asked three more 

times for any further nominations. There being no further nominations, nominations were closed and 

a unanimous vote was cast for Mr. Bell as Chair of the Annuity and Pension Board.  

 Election of Vice-Chair. Mr. Konrad passed the virtual gavel to Mr. Bell who thanked Mr. 

Konrad for his service as Chair during the last year. Mr. Bell asked for nominations for Vice-Chair. 

Ms. King nominated Mr. Campbell for Vice-Chair. It was moved by Ms. King and seconded by Mr. 

Kovac to nominate Mr. Campbell for Vice-Chair. Mr. Bell asked three more times for any further 

nominations. There being no further nominations, nominations were closed and a unanimous vote was 

cast for Mr. Campbell as Vice-Chair of the Annuity and Pension Board. 

At this point, Mr. Bell took the meeting out of order to item VII.A. Informational – Pending 

Litigation Report. 



01/26/22 

2 

 

Informational. 

 

Mr. Bell advised that the Annuity and Pension Board may vote to convene in closed session on the 

following item (A.) as provided in Section 19.85(1)(g), Wisconsin State Statutes, to confer with 

legal counsel concerning strategy to be adopted by the body with respect to litigation in which it 

is or is likely to become involved. The Board may then vote to reconvene in open session following 

the closed session. 

 

A. Pending Litigation Report.  

 

It was moved by Mr. Konrad and seconded by Ms. Ford to convene in closed session. The motion 

prevailed by the following roll call vote: AYES: Ms. Ford, King, and Sawa; Messrs. Bell, 

Campbell, Klusman, Konrad, and Kovac. NOES: None.  

 

The meeting convened in closed session at 9:07 a.m. 

 

The meeting reconvened in open session at 9:16 a.m. 

 

Mr. Bell returned the meeting to agenda item II. Approval of Minutes. 

 

Approval of Minutes. 

Regular Meeting Held December 21, 2021. It was moved by Mr. Campbell, seconded by 

Ms. Ford, and unanimously carried, to approve the Minutes of the Regular Meeting Held 

December 21, 2021.  

Special Meeting Held January 6, 2022. It was moved by Ms. King, seconded by Mr. 

Konrad, and unanimously carried, to approve the Minutes of the Special Meeting Held January 6, 

2022.  

 

Chief Investment Officer Report.  

 

As a matter of information, Board members received the January 26, 2022 Performance Update. 

Mr. Sauer noted the Fund as of December 31, 2021, had a value of $6.22 billion. He said the Fund 

return of 4.0%, net of fees, outperformed the blended benchmark by approximately 147 basis 

points. Mr. Sauer commented that the Fund outperformed in the one-, five-, 10- and 20-year time 

periods, while matching the benchmark in the 15-year period, net of fees. He said the primary 

December relative performance driver was Manager Selection with Private Equity adding 126 

basis points. He noted the Fund’s Style Bias added 16 basis points during the month from the 

Fund’s Value Bias. Mr. Sauer noted that for the 2021 Summary, the Total Fund and all the asset 

classes outperformed their respective benchmarks, net of fees. He commented that 14 out of 15 

active mandates outperformed, net of fees. He said the Fund had Investment Gains of $1.029 

billion, paid benefits and expenses of $461.1 million, and received contributions of $117.2 million. 

Mr. Sauer said as of January 24, 2022, the Fund return is down 2.7% in January, the Fund’s 

approximate value is $6.13 billion, and six out of 13 active mandates are outperforming year-to-

date. He said the Fund generated an investment loss year-to-date of $163.4 million and made its 

first expenses payment of $1.8 million and has received contributions of $73.4 million. Mr. Sauer 

said the monthly withdrawals for January were $12 million from Brandes, $10.5 million from 



01/26/22 

3 

BlackRock Global Alpha Tilts, $7 million from DFA International, $6.5 million from MFS, and 

$2 million from DFA US Small Cap Value. Discussion ensued. 

 

Mr. Silber reminded the Board members that the Investment Committee Meeting is February 10 

when the three Hedge Fund of Funds finalists will be interviewed. He requested the meeting start 

at 8:45 a.m. so the interviews can begin at 9:00 a.m. Mr. Silber anticipated the meeting concluding 

by Noon.  

 

New Business. 

 

 Authorization to Sign Vouchers. Staff noted the Comptroller’s Accounts Director 

Richard Bare has been added to the list of persons authorized to sign vouchers at the request of the 

Comptroller, Ms. Sawa.  

 

Retirements, Death Claims, and Refunds (December). Mr. Allen presented the 

following activity for the month of December 2021. 

 

Active Death Benefits reported    $0.00 

 

Deferred Death      $0.00 

 

Deferred Death-Member Only Refund   $0.00 

 

  Ordinary Death Benefits reported    $468.44  

  

  Retired Death Benefits reported    $28,422.86 

 

Survivor Death – Termination Benefits reported  $57,878.93 

   

  Refund of Member Contributions paid   $240,778.22 

 

 It was moved by Mr. Konrad, seconded by Ms. Sawa, and unanimously carried, to approve 

the Retirements, Death Claims, and Refunds (December). 

 

 Conference Requests – January 2022 Board Meeting. Staff noted there were no requests 

this month to attend conferences. 

 

 Approval of 2021 Securities Lending Budget. Staff noted the ERS’ securities lending 

operation, unique to the ERS Fund, generates some revenue and it is required by the charter 

ordinance pursuant to the Global Pension Settlement in 2000 to sweep these earnings every year 

into the Combined Fund. Staff said the earnings amount this year is $552,798.88. Mr. Gopalan 

noted the Securities Lending Revenue has decreased from prior years due to ERS’ higher collateral 

requirements than other securities lending programs. He also said there are fewer securities in 

separate accounts available to lend out. Discussion ensued. Mr. Gopalan added that the amount 

being swept into the General Fund would be rounded up to $553,000.00. 

 

 It was moved by Ms. King, seconded by Mr. Campbell, and unanimously carried, to 

approve the Approval of 2021 Securities Lending Budget.  

 



01/26/22 

4 

 Annual Obligation of Trustees and ERS Officers to Submit Annual Statement of 

Economic Interests. Staff said Trustees and Officers would need to fill out the form and submit 

it to the City’s Ethics Board by February 28, 2022.  

 

Mr. Bell advised that the Annuity and Pension Board may vote to convene in closed session on the 

following item as provided in Section 19.85 (1)(c), for considering employment, promotion, 

compensation or performance evaluation data of any public employe over which the governmental 

body has jurisdiction or exercises responsibility. The Board may then vote to reconvene in open 

session following the closed session. 

 

ERS Investment Staff Compensation (Analyst). It was moved by Mr. Kovac and 

seconded by Mr. Klusman to convene in closed session. The motion prevailed by the following 

roll call vote: AYES: Ms. Ford, King, and Sawa; Messrs. Bell, Campbell, Klusman, Konrad, and 

Kovac. NOES: None.  

 

The meeting convened in closed session at 9:53 a.m. 

 

The meeting reconvened in open session at 9:57 a.m. 

 

Medical Reports.    
 

 All Duty & Ordinary Disability Applications & Re-examinations (January). Staff 

presented certifications (January 2022) of the Fire and Police Medical Panel Physicians and the 

Medical Council relative to Duty & Ordinary Disability Retirement benefits as follows:   

 

Police – Re-examinations – Duty   Recommendation 

 

Vidal Colon      Approval 

Dwight Copeland     Approval 

Christian Hlavinka     Approval 

Joel Kujawa      Approval 

Stacy Lopez-Devereaux    Approval 

Frank Vrtochnick     Approval 

 

Fire – Re-examinations – Duty   Recommendation 

 

Jerry Allen      Approval 

Scott Hoth      Approval 

Christine Jacobs     Approval  

John Kielpinski     Approval 

Robert Smith 

 

Police – Re-examinations – Ordinary   Recommendation 

 

Dwayne Edwards     Approval 

James McNichol     Approval 

             

GC – Applications – Duty Disability   Recommendation 

 



01/26/22 

5 

Janine Lee      Approval 

Effective 07/01/21 

         

GC – Re-examinations – Duty Disability  Recommendation 

 

Gordon Matthews     Approval 

Gladys Williams     Approval 

   

GC – Re-examinations – Ordinary   Recommendation 

 

Kevin Cole      Approval 

Stephan Huber      Approval    

           

It was moved by Mr. Campbell, seconded by Mr. Konrad, and unanimously carried, to 

approve the Duty & Ordinary Disability Applications & Re-examinations (January). 

 

Duty Death Hearing Findings – Kenyatte Wooden. Mr. Bell presented the findings 

submitted by Independent Hearing Examiner Dennis Moroney stating “(The) decision to deny Mrs. 

Wooden’s application for the Accidental Death Benefit was supported by credible evidence in the 

record, and is thereby affirmed.” Briefs were also filed with the Board from the City Attorney’s 

Office, dated January 14, 2022by Mrs. Wooden’s attorney, Emil Ovbiagele, dated December 31, 

2021, as well as exhibits and transcript of the hearing. It was moved by Mr. Konrad, seconded by 

Ms. Sawa, and unanimously carried, to approve the findings of Hearing Examiner Mr. Moroney 

regarding the Duty Death Hearing Findings – Kenyatte Wooden. 

Unfinished Business. 

 Pending and Legal Opinions and Service Requests Report. As a matter of information, 

Board members received the Pending Legal Opinions and Service Requests Report. Mr. McClain 

noted the only outstanding Legal Opinion related to the authority of the Deputy Comptroller to 

serve in place of the Comptroller as an ex-officio member of the Board. Mr. McClain added that 

the opinion would be completed by the next Board meeting.  

 Pending Legislation Report. As a matter of information, Board members received the 

Pending Legislation Report. Staff noted the Mayor signed a substitute resolution authorizing City 

departments to expend monies appropriated in the 2022 City budget for Special Purpose Accounts, 

Debt Service Fund, Provisions for Employes’ Retirement Fund, Delinquent Tax Fund, Common 

Council Contingent Fund, Grant and Aid Fund, and Special Capital Projects or Purposes. Staff 

added the resolution was signed December 20, 2021.   

  Executive Director’s Report – Inventory of ERS Projects. As a matter of information, 

Staff presented a report on the ERS projects and updated the Board on ERS activities, a copy of 

which is on file with the ERS. Discussion ensued. 

Informational.  
 

 The following is a list of informational items: 

 

1) Pending Litigation Report. 

2) Conferences. 



01/26/22 

6 

3) Class Action Income 2021. 

4) Minutes of the Investment Committee Meeting Held December 9, 2021. 

5) Minutes of the A&O Committee Meeting Held December 15, 2021. 

6) Copies of the Board Rules and Regulations and ERS Ethics Policy. 

 

The following is a list of activities since the last Board meeting, copies sent with meeting 

notice and attached to minutes: 

 

7) Report on Bills. 

8) Deployment of Assets. 

9) Securities Lending Revenue and Budget Report. 

10) Preliminary Performance Report/Asset and Manager Allocation Pie Charts. 

11) ERS Holdings Report. 

 

There being no further business to come before the meeting,it was moved by Ms. King and 

seconded by Ms. Sawa to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Bell adjourned the meeting at 10:21 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

Bernard J. Allen 

Secretary and Executive Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
(NOTE: All proceedings of the Annuity and Pension Board Meetings and related Committee Meetings are 

recorded. All recordings and material mentioned herein are on file in the office of the Employes’ Retirement 

System, 789 N. Water Street, Suite 300.) 



 

EMPLOYES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF MILWAUKEE 

ANNUITY AND PENSION BOARD 

 

Minutes of the Special Meeting 

held February 10, 2022 via teleconference during COVID-19 

 

The meeting was called to order at 12:10 p.m. 

 

Board Members Present:   Matthew Bell, Chair 

     James Campbell 

     Deborah Ford 

     Molly King 

     Tom Klusman  

Rudolph Konrad 

Nik Kovac 

Aycha Sawa 

 

Retirement System Staff Present: Jerry Allen, Executive Director 

     David Silber, Chief Investment Officer 

     Erich Sauer, Deputy Chief Investment Officer  

     Jan Wills, Board Stenographer  

 

Others Present: Avi Josefson, Hannah Ross, Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP (BLB&G); 

Patrick McClain, City Attorney’s Office; Terry Siddiqui, DS Consulting, Inc.; three members of the public 

called in.  

Special Meeting 

Mr. Bell advised that the Annuity and Pension Board may vote to convene in closed session on the following 

item as provided in Section 19.85(1)(g), Wisconsin State Statutes, to confer with legal counsel concerning 

strategy to be adopted by the body with respect to litigation in which it is or is likely to become involved. 

The Board may then vote to reconvene in open session following the closed session. 

 

Update and Consideration of Strategy, Tactics and Potential Resolution Regarding the Allianz 

Litigation. 

It was moved by Ms. King and seconded by Mr. Konrad to convene in closed session. The motion carried 

by the following roll call vote: AYES: Mses. Ford, King, and Sawa; Messrs. Campbell, Klusman, Konrad, 

Kovac, and Bell. NOES: None.  

The meeting convened in closed session at 12:13 p.m. 

The meeting re-convened in open session at 12:32 p.m. 

It was moved by Mr. Klusman and seconded by Ms. King to adjourn the meeting. 

There being no further business, Mr. Bell adjourned the meeting at 12:32 p.m. 

 

 

 

Bernard J. Allen 

Secretary and Executive Director 

 
(NOTE: All proceedings of the Annuity and Pension Board Meetings and related Committee Meetings are recorded. All recordings 

and material mentioned herein are on file in the office of the Employes’ Retirement System, 789 N. Water Street, Suite 300.) 





Summary 
The ERS Fund had an estimated return of -2.1% in January, gross of fees, that outperformed the 
blended benchmark by approximately 60 basis points. The Fund’s manager selection was the 
main contributor to relative performance, while style bias added value as well. The Fund’s asset 
allocation did not impact the Fund’s relative returns in aggregate during the month.  
 

January Relative Performance Summary 
 

Manager Selection (+50 basis points) 
The Fund’s Manager Selection performed relatively well in total compared to respective manager 
benchmarks, in what turned out to be a volatile month for markets. The impressive outperformance 
in January came from the Fund’s Public Equity and Real Assets allocations. Within Public Equity, 
while it is notable that all of the Fund’s active value and core investment managers outperformed 
their respective benchmarks during the month, almost all of the outperformance was generated by 
Brandes and DFA, the Fund’s two active value managers. Brandes was the only Public Equity 
manager with a positive return during the month, generating a 2.3% return that outperformed its 
benchmark by 7.1%. Brandes’ outperformance was driven by its overweight to the Energy sector, 
underweight to the Industrials and Information Technology sectors, and strong stock selection 
within the Health Care and Consumer Staples sectors. The three DFA mandates the Fund invests 
in also added a lot of relative value this month, with the International Small Cap Value strategy 
generating a return of -1.7% with 5.6% outerperformance, the U.S. Small Cap Value strategy 
generating a return of -2.6% with 3.2% outperformance, and the U.S. Large Cap Value strategy 
generating a return of -1.3% with 1.0% outperformance. DFA’s portfolios benefited from its 
unique approach to gaining exposure to value stocks, which allowed the portfolios to have a 
deeper value exposure and overweights to sectors such as Financials and Energy that performed 
particularly well in January. Within Real Assets, outperformance was the result of a very strong 
quarterly return reported by Prologis, one of the Fund’s core real estate managers. Prologis invests 
solely in the industrial/logistics sector, and its reported net of fee return of 13.6% was driven 
primarily by accelerated rent growth, as well as cap rate compression.  
 
Broad Category Group Allocation (no net effect) 
The Fund went into the month with overweight allocations to Private Equity and Fixed Income 
and underweight allocations to Absolute Return and Public Equity. While there was meaningful 
return dispersion between the benchmarks of the five asset classes the Fund invests in during the 
month, the impacts offset, and this category did not impact the Fund’s relative returns in 
aggregate in January.  
 
Style Bias (+11 basis points) 
The Fund’s strategic Value Bias within Public Equity was responsible for the majority of the 
outperformance within this category during the month. U.S. value stocks, as represented by the 
Russell 3000 Value index, had a return of -2.6%, which significantly outperformed the -8.9% 
return of the Russell 3000 Growth index in December. Furthermore, non-U.S. public equity 
markets outperformed the U.S. broad market, and as a result the Fund’s exposure to non-U.S. 
public equity also ended up adding relative value for the Fund during the month. 
 

 



KEY ATTRIBUTION DESCRIPTIONS 
 
Broad Category Group Allocation – This compares the Fund’s actual Asset Class allocation to its 
policy benchmark allocation.  If the Fund’s actual Asset Class allocation was always equal to the policy 
benchmark allocations of 44% Public Equity, 23% Fixed Income, 13% Real Assets, 10% Absolute 
Return, and 10% Private Equity, this amount would be 0.  In reality, market movements mean that the 
Fund almost always has some deviation from the policy benchmark. The impact of this deviation is 
measured here.  
 
Deviations are usually within the allowed range. If market movements cause an asset class to move 
outside of an allowed range, triggering a rebalance, the Board would be notified, and the calculation in 
this section would be adjusted to incorporate the impact of the rebalance.      
 
If the Fund is overweight (underweight) an Asset Class that has a higher (lower) return than the Fund’s 
Blended Benchmark return, the contribution to return is positive (negative). Similarly, if the Fund is 
underweight (overweight) an Asset Class that has a lower (higher) return than the Fund’s Blended 
Benchmark return, the contribution is also positive (negative). Note: The actual return of the Fund and its 
investment managers does not impact this amount.   
 
Manager Selection – This compares the return of each of the Fund’s investment managers to the 
manager’s designated benchmark.  If all of the Fund’s investment managers delivered a return equal to 
their designated benchmark, the amount in this category would be 0.   
 
If a manager outperforms (underperforms) its designated benchmark, the contribution to return is positive 
(negative). 
 
Style Bias – This compares the Fund’s investment managers’ designated benchmarks to the Asset Class 
benchmarks designated by the Fund. If all of the Fund’s investment managers had a designated 
benchmark that was the same as the Asset Class benchmark designated by the Fund, this amount would 
be 0. For example, if every public equity manager’s designated benchmark was the ACWI IMI, and every 
fixed income manager’s designated benchmark was the Barclays U.S. Aggregate, the amount in this 
category would be 0. However, many of the Fund’s investment managers have a designated benchmark 
that is reflective of their specific mandate rather than the Asset Class benchmark designated by the Fund. 
The impact of this deviation is measured here. 
 
If an investment manager’s designated benchmark outperforms (underperforms) the designated Asset 
Class benchmark, the contribution is positive (negative).  Note: The actual return of the Fund and its 
investment managers does not impact this amount. 
 
Active Return – This amount is the sum of the 3 components described above.  The Total Active Return 
amount equals the difference between the ERS Fund Return and the Fund’s Blended Benchmark Return. 
 
 



































 
 

F. Vulnerability Assessment - 2021 in progress.  

G. Perforce Repository Upgrade in progress. 

H. IP Address Review and Cleanup – 2021 in progress. 

I. DNS Review and Cleanup – 2021 in progress. 

J. AD Review and Cleanup – 2021 in progress. 

K. Firewall Review and Cleanup – 2021 in progress. 

L. SAN Firmware and DSM Upgrade in progress. 

M. Video Conferencing System Upgrade in progress. 

 

V. Administration  
 

A. Statements of Economic Interests for 2021 are due to be filed with the City Ethics 
Board no later than February 28, 2022. A fillable form is available on-line at the City 
website address:     https://city.milwaukee.gov/ImageLibrary/Groups/ccClerk/Ethics-
Board/2021_Annual_SEI_Letter_Form_Fillable.pdf  

B. Staff has obtained salary survey data compiled by the McLagen firm, a leading public 
pension fund compensation consultant for discussion at this month’s Annuity & 
Pension Board meeting at the request of a Trustee. The data is from 2018. Also,  
NCPERS has announced that it will survey its 400 member public funds beginning in 
March and the salary data from that effort will be made available in the Fall. Further, 
DER has asked CMERS to help secure salary data because setting pay ranges for 
CMERS staff who operate a special type of financial institution is somewhat outside 
the scope of their expertise.     



Basic Website Metrics

Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec. Jan.

Visits 5,153 4,673 5,542 5,405 4,842 4,479 4,188 4,592 4,678 5,442 5,180 4,728 5,053

Users 3,872 3,563 4,050 4,029 3,816 3,440 3,203 3,566 3,533 4,015 3,813 3,667 3,810

Page Views 16,062 13,815 17,353 15,863 13,287 11,539 11,411 11,868 12,240 16,046 13,712 12,305 13,532

Pages/ Visit 3.12 2.96 3.13 2.93 2.74 2.58 2.72 2.58 2.62 2.95 2.65 2.60 2.68

Ave. Visit 2:38 2:21 2:40 2:19 2:07 2:07 2:10 2:10 2:23 2:35 2:10 2:09 2:18

2/1/2022                                                                                                                      CMERS 2017 Redesign – World (Not ERS)

2021    2022







 

789 North Water Street ♦ Suite 300 ♦ Milwaukee WI 53202 ♦ Phone 414-286-3557 or 1-800-815-8418 ♦ Fax 414-286-8428 
 Page 2 
 

Part 2.   ERS Administrative Appeal Hearings through the City Attorney 

 
Jason Rodriguez; Administrative Case No. 1443 
Status: Hearing stayed pending outcome of Appellant's state workers compensation appeal. Status conference to be scheduled if state appeal hearing has 
not been held by May 1, 2022.  

 
Sandrah Crawford; Administrative Case No. 1457 

Status: Judge Moroney appointed as new Hearing Examiner. Status Conference to be scheduled for May, 2022. 
 
 
 
   

Part 3.   Notice of Claim filed with ERS 
 

Kurt Lacina, et al v. City of Milwaukee and Employes’ Retirement System and Annuity and Pension Board 
Mr. Lacina was granted a worker’s compensation permanent partial disability award for a physical injury occurring in January 2008. However, 
claimant was approved for a duty disability benefit based on a mental injury that resulted from the same date of injury in January 2008. Mr. 
Lacina alleges the City of Milwaukee and the Employes’ Retirement System improperly applied an offset against his duty disability benefit based 
on a legal opinion issued by the City Attorney’s Office in April 2020. 
 09/09/21 Notice of Claim served upon ERS. 
 09/21/21 Letter and Notice of Claim to City Attorney’s Office. 
Claim deemed denied by expiration of 120 days pursuant Wis. Stat. 893.80(1g). Claimant has until July 1, 2022 to file in Circuit Court.   

 
 
 
 

Part 4. ERS Litigation through Outside Legal Counsel 
 
ERS v Allianz Global Investors U.S. LLC, et al; Case No. 20-CV-08642 
Lawsuit against defendants alleging negligence and breach of contractual and fiduciary duties arising from misconduct and gross 
mismanagement of two investment funds (i.e., AllianzGI Structured Alpha 1000 Plus LLC and Allianz GI Structured Alpha U.S. Fixed Income 
250 LLC. 
**See prior Reports for case history** 
 08/24/21 Litigation is on-going. 
 













 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

EMPLOYES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF MILWAUKEE   

ANNUITY AND PENSION BOARD 

 

Minutes of the Investment Committee Meeting 

held February 10, 2022 via teleconference during COVID-19 

 

The meeting was called to order at 8:46 a.m. 

 

Committee Members Present:  Matthew Bell, Chair 

James Campbell  

Deborah Ford 

Molly King 

Thomas Klusman  

Rudy Konrad 

Nik Kovac  

Aycha Sawa 

 

ERS Staff Present:   Jerry Allen, Executive Director 

     David Silber, Chief Investment Officer 

     Erich Sauer, Deputy Chief Investment Officer 

     Dan Gopalan, Chief Financial Officer 

     Jan Wills, Board Stenographer 

 

Others Present: Patrick Byrne, Michael Hillman, Michael Husson, Jeff Klein, Richard Quigley, 

Goldman Sachs Asset Management AIMS Aptitude; David Ben-Ur, Paget MacColl, Eric Perlyn,  

Lindsay Shagrin, Steve Sullens, Blackstone Alternative Asset Management; Jonathan Levin, 

Frederick Pollock, Andrew T. Preda, Mark Roman, Amy Wierenga; Grosvenor Capital 

Management; John Jackson, Mike Joecken, Kevin Joy, Joe McGuane, Callan; Patrick McClain, 

City Attorney’s office; Terry Siddiqui, DS Consulting, Inc.; five members of the public called in. 

 

Hedge Fund of Funds Manager Interviews. 

 

 Goldman Sachs Asset Management AIMS Aptitude. As a matter of information, 

Committee members received the Goldman Sachs Asset Management AIMS Aptitude presentation 

booklet. Messrs. Byrne, Hillman, Husson, Klein, and Quigley gave a presentation on the topics of 

Executive Summary, AIMS Aptitude Overview, Philosophy, Process, Track Record, CMERS 

Proposed Solution, and then provided a Summary. Discussion ensued. 

 

 Mr. Bell called for a break at 9:45 a.m. and resumed the meeting at 9:50 a.m. 

 

 Blackstone Alternative Asset Management. As a matter of information, Committee 

members received the Blackstone Alternative Asset Management presentation booklet. Mses. 

MacColl, Shagrin, and Messrs. Ben-Ur, Perlyn, and Sullens gave a presentation on the topics of  

Executive Summary, Blackstone and Blackstone Alternative Asset Management Overview, 

Philosophy, Process, Track Record, CMERS Proposed Solution, and then provided a Summary.  

Discussion ensued. 

 

 Grosvenor Capital Management. As a matter of information, Committee members 

received the GCM Grosvenor presentation booklet. Ms. Wierenga and Messrs. Levin, Pollock, 



02/10/22 

2 

Preda, and Roman gave a presentation on the topics of Executive Summary, Grosvenor Overview, 

Philosophy, Process, Track Record, CMERS Proposed Solution, and then provided a Summary. 

Discussion ensued. 

 

Mr. Bell advised that the Investment Committee may vote to convene in closed session on the 

following item as provided in Section 19.85(1)(e), Wisconsin State Statutes, to deliberate or 

negotiate the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other 

specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session. 

The Investment Committee may then vote to reconvene in open session following the closed 

session. 

 

Selection of Hedge Fund of Funds Manager. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Sawa and seconded by Mr. Kovac to convene in closed session. The motion 

prevailed by the following roll call vote: AYES: Mses. Ford, King, and Sawa; Messrs. Bell, 

Campbell, Klusman, Konrad, and Kovac. NOES: None. 

 

The Committee convened in closed session at 11:18 a.m. 

 

The Committee reconvened in open session at 11:58 a.m. 

 

It was moved by Mr. Bell and seconded by Mr. Campbell, and unanimously carried, to proceed 

with the selection of the Hedge Fund of Fund Manager as advised by the Investment Committee 

in closed session. 

 

Informational. 

 

 4th Quarter 2021 Performance Report. As a matter of information, Committee members 

received the 4th Quarter 2021 Performance Report. 

 

 Value Add Analysis. As a matter of information, Committee members received the Value 

Add Analysis. 

 

 Mr. Bell accepted the 4th Quarter 2021 Performance Report and Value Add Analysis and 

placed them on file. 

 

 It was moved by Mr. Campbell and seconded by Mr. Konrad to adjourn the meeting. 

 

There being no further business, Mr. Bell adjourned the meeting at 12:00 p.m. 

 

 

 

Bernard J. Allen 

Secretary and Executive Director 

 

 
NOTE: All proceedings of the Annuity and Pension Board Meetings and related Committee Meetings are 

recorded.  All recordings and material mentioned herein are on file in the office of the Employes’ 

Retirement System, 789 N. Water Street, Suite 300.) 


















